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1. Introduction

John Cronin & Associates have been commissioned by Atkins Ireland on behalf of
their client Carlow County Council to undertake an archaeological impact
assessment of proposed works to construct new cantilevered pedestrian walkways on
both elevations of the existing Slaney Bridge on the N81 road through Tullow, County
Carlow as well as rearrangements to the carriageway of the bridge deck.

The Slaney Bridge in Tullow is not recorded by the Archaeological Survey of Ireland.
It is a protected structure included on the Record of Protected Structures (RPS) within
the current Carlow County Development Plan. In 1999, the bridge was rated as being
of regional importance in the National Inventory of Architectural Heritage (NIAH)
survey of bridges and other historic structures in County Carlow. (A separate
architectural heritage impact assessment has also been prepared by John Cronin &
Associates)

Figure 1 General location of the bridge (encircled in yellow) on the River Slaney in Tullow (Source:
Bing Maps)

This assessment has been informed by desktop research and a site inspection
undertaken February 2017. The results of archaeological test pit investigations, carried
out by Tony Cummins (JCA) in September 2017, are also incorporated. The test pit
excavations were carried out within the grounds of the Methodist Church to the east
of the bridge to investigate an area to be impacted by a proposed realignment of
existing river steps. The excavations were carried out under a licence issued by the
National Monuments Service (NMS), Department of Culture, Heritage and Gaeltacht
(NMS Licence ref. 17E0385). A separate report on this site investigation has been
submitted to the NMS in order to comply with the licence requirements and a summary
of the results are presented in Section 4 of the present report.

This report has been compiled by:
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1 David Murphy BA
1 John Cronin BA MRUP MUBC MIAI
1 Tony Cummins BA MA
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2. Context

SITE AND LEGAL CONTEXT

The bridge is located approximately 175m south-west of the Market Square in the
centre of Tullow in County Carlow. The crossing carries the N81 two-way road across
the Slaney River and forms the lower half of Bridge Street in the town. The N81 is a
national secondary road that runs from Closh Cross, approximately eight kilometres
south of Tullow, to Junction 11 on the M50 near Tallaght. The bridge spans from the
townland of Tullowbeg on the south-west bank of the river to Tullowphelim on the
north-east bank.

Figure 2 Subject bridge on the N81 over River Slaney in Tullow, Co. Carlow
(Reproduced under Ordnance Survey Ireland Licence No. SU 0003317)

ARCHAEOLOGICAL & HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

Tullow is situated on the Slaney River in the east of County Carlow and is an example
of a small Anglo-Norman market town. The placename is derived from Tullach,
meaning “a mound” or “hillock”. Evidence of prehistoric settlement in the vicinity of the
later Anglo-Norman settlement is provided by the existence of a Bronze Age mound
barrow (Monument Number CW008-044----) located ¢.500 metres northwest of the
town centre. It is possible that this mound or a similar, no longer extant, site in the
vicinity is responsible for the origin of the “Tullach” placename.

Both the surviving monuments and the archaeological and documentary evidence
indicate that location of Tullow has been occupied since at least the eleventh century
with the evidence indicating the existence of a pre-Anglo-Norman Early Christian
monastery, which was most likely located on the site of the later Augustinian
foundation (CW008-045001-) situated on the south bank of the Slaney in Tullowbeg
townland. Surviving features which indicate the existence of a pre-Anglo-Norman
foundation include the head of an Early Christian high cross (CW008-045011-) which
has been incorporated into the top of a later stone structure which was built around
the holy well (CW008-045009-) which may also be of early date, the stone base with
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socket hole (CW008-045015-) associated with the high cross also survive. It is also
probable that a pre-Norman parish church (CW008-045006-) existed in Tullowphelim
townland at the northeast end of the historic town (CW008-045----), where the present
St. Columba’s parish church is situated. The present church may have been partially
built on the earlier medieval nave and chancel church and a number of surviving
features are likely to be associated with it. These include a large rectangular granite
cross base (CW008-045013-) with a rectangular socket and a granite font (CW008-
045012-) located in the churchyard (CW008-045014-).

After the coming of the Normans, the initial grant of Tullow appears to have been to
John de Hereford for whom Hugh de Lacy constructed a motte (CW008-045002-)
sometime around the year 1181, the location of this motte, while not fully determined,
is thought to been located on the site of the later Anglo-Norman masonry castle
(CW008-045003-) which was most likely constructed in the 13™ century, no visible
surface trace of the masonry castle survives. The date of the foundation of the borough
is unclear but documentary sources indicate that it was established before 1206. The
foundation of the Augustinian Friary (CW008-045001-) in 1314 suggests that the
settlement was in a healthy state at this time. According to the Urban Survey of County
Carlow (Bradley 1989, 71-2) the friary was ‘founded in 1314 by Simon Lumbard and
Hugh Talun and they gave a house and three acres of land in “the village of St John
adjoining Tullow” to the friars (Gwynn and Hadcock 1970, 302). In 1542 the buildings
are recorded as a church and belfry, a dormitory, hall, three chambers, and kitchen
and the friars also held six cottages in Tullow. Although references are scarce in the
later fourteenth and fifteenth centuries there is no evidence that the settlement was
actually abandoned. With the revival of English interest in Ireland during the sixteenth
and seventeenth centuries the town took on a new phase of prosperity and much of
its present layout, particularly surrounding Market Square, dates from this time period.

No remains of the Augustinian Friary survive above ground, documentary sources
record that its buildings were demolished during the reign of Queen Anne (1702-1714)
to provide materials for building a barracks on the site of the court house (Ryan 1833,
355). To the southeast of the site of the Augustinian Friary, standing on the south bank
of the River Slaney, the Down Survey map of 1657 depicts the presence of a mill
described in the terrier as "Tuck Mill' (CW008-045008-), no surface trace of this mill
survives and its location remains undetermined.

O’Keeffe and Simmington (1991, 94) state that the road through Tullow which the
subject structure now carries was part of the Slighe Chualann, an ancient roadway
from the seat of the High Kings at Tara to an area of Leinster) A seventeenth-century
reference to a bridge over the River Slaney in Tullow is to be found in an extract from
Dineley?!, who visited the town in 1680. It refers to the fact that the tenant of the Castle,
William Crutchley, J.P., had repaired “the Town Bridge which is of stone with arches”.

The first rebuilding of the bridge took place in the eighteenth-century. The builder was
Mr. Thomas Nowlan of Rathvaran, a farmer, in the year 1747; Sir Richard Butler, Bart;
Thomas Bunbury, Robert Eustace, Robert Lecky and John Brewster are mentioned
as overseers. In the year 1770, the Grand Jury for County Carlow at their Summer
Assizes, thanked Mr. John Semple for drawing a plan and estimate for a bridge over

! Shirley, E (1862/3)
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the Slaney in Tullow. The members of the Grand Jury refer to the fact that Mr. Semple
was the director and overseer of the work. They were well pleased with the completed
structure finished "in a very strong and handsome manner”. Furthermore, the cost was
much cheaper than first anticipated, had they not had his advice. Names of Grand
Jurors appended included C. Wolseley (Sheriff), Richard Butler, William Burton,
Thomas Bunbury, Robert Browne, B. Burton Doyne, Richard Mercer, Robert Eustace,
William Paul Butler, The Philus Perkins, John Perkins, Thomas Gurly, James Butler,
Simon Mercer, Thomas Whelan, William Bernard, William Bunbury, William Vicars,
and Bartholomew Newton.

The following extract from Samuel Lewis’ 1837 Topographical Dictionary of Ireland
describes the history, civic amenities (including the subject road-bridge) and
geography of Tullow and its productive surrounding agricultural land, in the early part
of the nineteenth-century:

TULLOW, or TULLOWPHELIM, a market and post-town, and a parish, in
the barony of RATHVILLY, county of CARLOW, and province of
LEINSTER, 7 ¥ miles (E. S. E.) from Carlow, and 46 % (S. S. W.) from
Dublin, on the road from Carlow to Newtownbarry; containing 2587
inhabitants, of which number, 1929 are in the town. This place, which is
situated on the river Slaney, over which is a bridge of five arches,
built, according to an inscription on it, in the year 1767, is supposed
to have been originally an appendage to a castle erected here by some
of the first English settlers under the directions of Hugh de Lacy, and
to a monastery founded here in 1315 for Augustinian friars by Simon
Lumbard and Hugh Tallon, whose grant was confirmed, in 1331, by Edward
lll. At the dissolution its temporalities were granted to the Earl of Ormonde.
The castle was defended by Colonel Butler in 1650 against the
parliamentarian army, but after a stubborn resistance it was taken by Cols.
Hewson and Reynolds. There are no vestiges of it now in existence, and
the only relic of the abbey is a mutilated stone cross in a burial-ground on
the south side of the river. It is said that the building was taken down in the
reign of Queen Anne, to supply materials for the erection of a barrack on a
site now occupied by the court-house.

The town comprises two main streets and a few lanes, in which are 305
houses, mostly of inferior description: its outlets extend into the two
adjoining parishes of Ardristan and Killerig. It obtained a patent for holding
a market on Saturday and again for another on Tuesday: the market is now
held on Saturday, and is the best corn market in the county. Fairs are held
on April 21st, July 10th, Oct. 29th, and Nov. 21st. The extensive flour-mill
of Messrs. Doyle and Pim grinds about 10,000 barrels of wheat annually:
there are also in the town two breweries belonging to Mr. Carter and Mr.
Roche. General sessions of the peace are held in the town in January, April,
June, and October; petty sessions are also held here: the business of both
is transacted in a small court-house. The town is a chief constabulary police
station.
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The parish contains 5837 statute acres, as applotted under the tithe act:
about one-half of it is meadow and pasture, and the remainder under tillage,
with the exception of a small portion of wood. Two of its townlands are
locally situated in the adjoining county of Wicklow, The Derreen river flows
along its south-eastern and southern boundaries, and at its southern
extremity joins the Slaney near the church of Aghade.

ARCHAEOLOGICAL CONTEXT

Within 500 metres of Slaney Bridge a total of 15 archaeological sites are recorded by
the Historic Monuments Viewer of the National Monuments Service (see Table 1 and
Figure 3 below).

Table 1. Recorded archaeological sites within 500m of the bridge

Augustinian friars

Monument No Class Townland ITM Ref (E,N)
CwWO008-044---- Barrow — mound | Tullowbeg 684640, 673313
barrow
CWO008-045---- Historic town Templeowen, 685102, 673100
Tullowbeg,
Tullowphelim
CWwO008-045001- Religious house - | Tullowbeg 685102, 673100

CW008-045002-

Castle - motte

Tullowphelim

685360, 673316

CW008-045003-

Anglo-Norman
masonry castle

Tullowphelim

685360, 673316

CW008-045005- Graveyard Tullowbeg 685109, 672977
CW008-045006- Church Tullowphelim 685341, 673284
CWwW008-045009- Ritual site — holy well | Tullowbeg 685135, 673004
CW008-045011- Cross — High cross | Tullowbeg 685135, 673004
(present location)
CWO008-045012- Font Tullowphelim 685335, 673276
CWO008-045013- Cross Tullowphelim 685339, 673267
CW008-045014- Graveyard Tullowphelim 685348, 673275
CW008-045015- Cross Tullowbeg 685093, 672971
CW008-045016- Graveslab Tullowbeg 685348, 673275
CW008-045017- Graveslab Tullowbeg 685348, 673275
CW008-045018- Graveslab Tullowbeg 685348, 673275
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"CW008-045002-,
CW008-045003-,
CWO008-045006-,
CW008-045012-,
S CW008-045013-,
¢ CW008-045014-,
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CW008:045018-

Y

Historic Town
* CW008-045--+

CW008-045001-, CW008-045005-,
CW008-045011- and CW008-045015-

e

Figure 3 Extract from Historic Environment Viewer showing the location of archaeological sites and
monuments within the vicinity of the bridge (Source: Department of Arts, Heritage, Regional, Rural
and Gaeltacht Affairs)

ARCAHEOLOGICAL EXCAVATIONS IN THE ENVIRONS OF THE BRIDGE

Seven programmes of licenced archaeological investigations have been undertaken
within the environs of Tullow town and the results of these investigations are provided
in Table 2.

Table 2: Summaries of licenced archaeological excavations undertaken in Tullow
(www.excavations.ie)

Site Licence Summary

Name

Tullow, 02E1554 Pre-construction testing was undertaken on a site fronting the
Carlow Mary Henry Inner Relief Road at Tullow town centre, Co. Carlow. Six

trenches were opened on the footprint of the proposed
municipal development, one fronting the River Slaney.
Evidence of archaeological activity in the development area
was very scant. Testing confirmed that the site had been
filled in the 1980s. The development site was at river level
until the 1980s. At that time a mill 200m to the north-east was
demolished. All demolition rubble was used to fill in the
proposed development site to facilitate a carpark and
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Site
Name

Licence

Summary

landscape amenity, raising the area by c. 2m. This accounted
for the large amount of jumbled blocks, mortar, cobbles and
brick found in the trenches, the geotextile membrane and the
morphology of the upper stratigraphic layers.

Mill
St/Inner
Relief
Road,
Tullow

02E1620
Emmet
Stafford

Testing was undertaken at the site of a proposed
development at the corner of Mill Street/Inner Relief Road,
Tullow, on 19 November 2002. The site is at the extreme
eastern edge of the zone of archaeological potential of
Tullow, on the northern bank of the River Barrow.

A substantial strip-trench was excavated along the northern
boundary of the site, and four shorter trenches were dug
along the western and southern limits. Nothing of
archaeological significance was uncovered during the
excavation of 175m2 of test-trenches within, and in the
vicinity of, the footprint of the proposed development.

The level at which undisturbed natural geology was
uncovered varied between 0.2m and 2.1m below present
ground level across the site. The shallowest discovery of
subsoil corresponded with the highest point on the site,
where bedrock was uncovered almost immediately below
present ground level. The bedrock appeared to represent the
lowest point of the hill on which Tullow town has developed.
Along the south-western perimeter of the site substantial
deposits of made ground were uncovered overlying what
appeared to be the remains of riverine activity. The test-
trenching exercise appears to suggest that inundation of the
River Barrow once extended across perhaps half of the
development site. The most substantial increase in ground
level appears to have occurred in recent years, perhaps
since the construction of the Inner Relief Road, and is
represented by deposits containing modern inclusions that
extend to 1.1-1.4m below present ground level across the
south-western half of the site.

Bridge St,
Tullow

03E1810
Patrick Neary

Permission was granted for the partial demolition and re-
ordering of a protected structure and construction of a
ground-floor retail/office unit and seven apartments at Bridge
Street, Tullow, with a condition that the area should be
tested. This showed a medieval pit containing some 13th-
century pottery fragments. The existing building was also
recorded in a report by Phelim Manning.

Bridge St,
Tullow

04E0605
Patrick Neary

Three test-trenches were excavated at Bridge Street, Tullow.
No material of archaeological importance was discovered
during testing or subsequent monitoring.

Castle
Lane,
Tullow

06E0143
Annette
Quinn

Monitoring of groundworks associated with a water mains
replacement scheme at Tullow, Co. Carlow, was undertaken.
The pipeline route extended through the town of and within
the archaeological constraint zone for Tullow (CW008-045).
Monitoring on Castle Lane revealed an area of
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Site Licence Summary
Name

burning/oxidisation 0.4m below present ground level in the
area of a water chamber. Clearance was sought to proceed
with a full excavation of the exposed feature. The excavation
indicated that the feature represented the remains of an
earth-cut limekiln. This was reiterated by the presence of a
thick layer of partially burnt limestone blocks near to the base
of the feature and the presence of a stone-lined flue which
may have been disturbed by an adjacent manhole.
Approximately one quarter of the kiln was excavated within
the limits of the water chamber trench. A number of medieval
pottery sherds (Leinster cooking ware) and animal-bone
fragments were recovered from the upper limits of the kiln fill.
Removal of the fill from the kiln revealed highly oxidised sides
and base. The limekiln is located in Castle Lane, which is
adjacent to the site of a medieval castle (CW008-045(03)),
now occupied by a bungalow. The castle is thought to date to
the 13th century, which would concur with the preliminary
date of the pottery sherds recovered from the Kiln.

Tullow, 06E0438 An assessment was carried out in May 2006 in advance of a
Carlow Sinéad proposed development at a site located to the west and
Phelan south of Flynn’s Garage, Dublin Road, Tullow, near the site
of a 17th-century castle, CW008-044.

Seven test-trenches were mechanically excavated across the
site, down to the natural soils to a depth ranging between
0.25 and 1.5m. The entire development area measures
6925m (1.71 acres).

No features of archaeological significance were recorded.
This proposed development area has been heavily
landscaped/truncated in modern times and, due to the
construction of a storm drain and electric cables at the
northern end of the site, Trenches 1, 3 and 4 were not fully
excavated.

Bridge St, | 06E1092 Monitoring of groundworks was undertaken during the
Tullow Emmet redevelopment of the Tullow Credit Union site. The site is
Stafford located adjacent to the bridge across the River Slaney.
Groundworks at the site involved demolition of standing
buildings and the reduction of ground levels by as much as
2.5m. Rubble and other made ground overlay a completely
water-saturated dark-brown silty clay containing very
occasional bones and clay pipe. The site appeared to have
been reclaimed from the Slaney in the post-medieval period.

HISTORY OF THE BRIDGE

The limited research for this document shows that the present Slaney Bridge in Tullow
clearly originated between the Ordnance Survey maps of 1839 and 1906 which are
reproduced here in Figures 4 and 6 respectively and show two different bridge
structures. Charles Forth, Surveyor to the Grand Jury, submitted a paper to the
Institution of Civil Engineers on the Bridge at Tullow in 1842 (Proc. ICE, I, p. 165). He
stated that the bridge was dangerously steep. In addition, he stated that it had a very
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narrow roadway of only 18 feet wide and that the approaches to the bridge were
awkwardly aligned. Forth stated that he had designed a new superstructure for the
bridge using flat segmental arches which reduced the gradients on the bridge deck
(see plan drawing on Figure 5 below). He had added abutments on the upstream side
and increased the width of the road to 28 feet. Forth stated that floods on the river
“forbade and diminution of the waterway”. On the newly designed crossing there were
three new arch rings, one of which had a radius of 60 feet, a span of 17 feet and a rise
of 7 inches, which meant that it was extremely flat. Forth reported that the total cost of
the alterations was £487-10s?. He also tested the bridge with loaded carts of 35 cwt3.

1839 survey. This is the structure referred to by Samuel Lewis in 1837 (see extract in main text
above) when he noted that it contained a date-stone inscribed with the year 1767. This map depicts a
structure with five identifiable piers in the river channel compared with the present crossing held on
three piers. (Map reproduced under Ordnance Survey Ireland Licence No. SU 0003317)

2 http://dia.ie/works/view/6649/building/CO.+CARLOW%2C+TULLOW%2C+BRIDGE
3 http://www.askaboutireland.ie/reading-room/history-heritage/architecture/architecture-in-co.-carlo/towns-and-villages-tullow/tullow-

bridge/
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Figure 5: Engineer Charles Forth’s plan drawing for the replacement bridge built in Tullow in the
1840s*. The arrangement of the south-western most span of the bridge which is presently a rather
complex culvert feature rather than a clear span presumably came later than the original structure as
per the drawing above but evidence for this alteration was not uncovered during the limited research
conducted for this document.

The bridge failed to carry the flood of 1963 when the nearby houses and hotel were
flooded to a depth of 6’. The bridge was strengthened by Carlow County Council in the
1980's°. The bridge today has three uniform piers and four spans and it would appear
that the whole superstructure from the foundation up was replaced in the 1840s.8

4 http://www.rootsweb.ancestry.com/~irlcar2/tullow town.htm
5 O0’Donoghue (2007)
6 O’Keeffe and Simington (1991)
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Figure 6 Extract from the second edltlon Ordnance Survey map of the Slaney Bridge surveyed in
1906 showing the three-pier structure as it appears up to the present day. (Reproduced under
Ordnance Survey Ireland Licence No. SU 0003317)
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3. Description of the site

The road deck of the subject bridge is aligned between the junction of Abbey Street
and Thomas Traynor Road to the south-west (Plate 5) and Bridge Street on the north-
east. It comprises a four-arch ashlar granite road-bridge over the River Slaney (Plates
1 & 3) on the N81 approximately 175m south-west of the Market Square in Tullow, on
the border between Tullowbeg and Tullowphelim townlands. The original date of
construction of the present bridge is deduced to be c.1842 and the engineer
responsible for its design is believed to be the Carlow County Surveyor of that time,
Charles Gerrard Forth (1808-1846). It is built in grey ashlar granite (with cement-rich
strap pointing throughout) to the spandrel walls, piers and abutments with coursed
rubble granite to the later parapet extensions and to the underground elements of the
flood-level culverts behind the south-west abutment of the bridge. The ashlar granite
parapet walls rise off a slightly projecting string course on both the upstream and
downstream elevations which follows the line of the four arch crowns. The parapets
are capped with heavy, rectangular granite coping stones which have rounded top
edges and project slightly over the outside of the parapet walls. Over each of the piers
there is a slightly projecting section of ashlar granite framing recessed panels up to
the height of the parapet capping. Cutwaters on the upstream side of the bridge are
pointed on plan while those on the downstream side are triangular on plan. Both were
contemporary features of the original piers and are capped with shallow-sloped cut
granite cap stones. All the arch soffits, which have large block-and-start granite
voussoirs on the elevations, appear to have roughly squared or cut arch stones but
have been shotcreted with a richly cement-based coating in recent decades. The road
deck and its flanking concrete pedestrian pavements is hard-surfaced up to the base
of the parapet walls and there is an Ordnance Survey benchmark carved on the interior
of the parapet wall on the downstream elevation of the bridge. There are electrical
cables held on steel brackets, formerly used to carry a water main, just below the
projecting string course on the downstream elevation of the bridge. A number of
currently operational as well as disused lamp standards, flower basket brackets and
other proprietary anchor bolts are fixed on the parapet capping stones along with
smaller screwed-on ducts for cabling on both elevations of the bridge.

The flood-level culverts beneath the south-western abutment have curved walls into
and out of a central rectangular chamber. The culvert walls are built of a mixture of
squared and ashlar granite with pointed ends facing the oncoming flow of water and
are roofed over with rubble stone lintels. The central chamber has a shotcreted ceiling
and a south-western wall built or reinforced in recent years with cast concrete. Its
north-eastern wall is formed by the original ashlar granite pier of the bridge. The floor
of the culvert system is lined with concrete and there is a main drainage duct running
along the floor of the outermost passage.

Appraisal

The proximity of medieval sites such as the nearby Abbey and the site of the former
castle outside the present town centre reinforces the understanding that there has
been a crossing point at this general location on the Slaney for a considerable length
of time with documentary evidence of a stone bridge in place here since before 1680
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when the existing stone bridge was repaired’. The existing bridge appears to be a
complete replacement of an earlier 1747 structure. The bridge was built in the 1840s
and for a crossing over 170 years old, it appears to be in remarkably good condition
thanks mostly to its good initial design and subsequent maintenance. The bridge is of
simple geometric and sturdy yet elegant design with the use of a small palette of
materials principally granite, which provide a composition of some sophistication.
Apart from the functional grace of the structure as an architectural piece, the quality of
its expertly cut granite masonry, having very fine joints is notable. Notwithstanding the
inappropriate cement-based strap pointing applied to the original elegantly fine ashlar
joints, the apparently excellent structural condition of this structure is a testament to
the high standard of its design and construction as well as the durability of its
component materials. Visual interference and minor material damage has been
caused by attachment of items of street-lighting, flower baskets and service ducting to
the parapet and elevations (mostly since the mid twentieth-century) but the most
significant aspects of this damage are largely reversible. The structure retains much
of its architectural and historic significance and its aesthetic contribution to the
surrounding area is also considerable.

7 Shirley E.P. (1862/3)
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4. Assessment of proposed development

It is proposed to widen the total carriageway for vehicles on the bridge by
approximately 1.9m through the removal of the existing concrete footpaths from the
bridge deck and constructing pedestrian crossings on both sides of the bridge by fixing
new footbridges to the existing cutwaters and abutments linking the pavements of
Bridge Street with those on Abbey Street and Thomas Traynor Road. The planned
footbridges will be supported by a structure anchored to the core of the bridge piers
beneath the cap stones of each of the three cutwaters on each side of the crossing.
There will be no contact between the proposed footbridges and the elevations of the
bridge and all existing electrical ducts and water mains fixed onto the bridge elevations
or buried beneath the current road deck will be incorporated into the structure of the
new footbridges. Sections of the original parapet walls or later extensions to these will
be removed to allow access to the new footbridges and a pre-cast concrete high
containment kerb will be installed at the base of the parapet walls at the edge of the
new roadway.

The works to this nineteenth-century bridge will not involve any in-channel works.
The only area where ground disturbance works will occur within the zone of
archaeological notification associated with the historic town will be within the grounds
of the former Methodist church (now Tullow Museum) where a revised arrangement
of pedestrian steps is proposed to be constructed (see Figure 7 below) to afford better
access to the riverside walk to the north of the bridge.

7

Figure 7 Extracts from the scheme drawing showing location of archaeological test pits (in yellow)
excavated on the footprint of proposed realigned steps
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The former church was built c. 1860 within a riverside property that is shown to the
south of a street-front terrace on the Ordnance Survey first-edition map (see Figure
4). While there is no evidence that this churchyard ever accommodated burials, the
property was, nonetheless, deemed to be of archaeological potential due to its location
within the core of the historic town. An application for a licence to manually excavate
two archaeological test pits within the footprint of the proposed interventions was
submitted by Tony Cummins (JCA) to the National Monuments Service. An excavation
licence (NMS ref. 17E0385) for the site investigations was issued in late August 2017
and the onsite works were carried out on 4" September 2017.

The site investigation comprised the manual excavation of two 1m x 1m trial pits within
the footprint of the area due to be impacted by the realigned steps (Plates 7 and 8).
The northeast trial pit revealed a dark sandy silt topsoil measuring 20cm in depth and
this contained uniformly modern inclusions, such as plastics and bottle glass, which
were present to the base of the layer. The topsoil overlay a poorly sorted deposit of
loose, water-rolled stones with occasional brick inclusions, within a coarse sandy
matrix. This deposit was still present at the base of excavation (0.5m below existing
ground level) and appeared to be infill material deposited to create a level ground
surface above the river bank located approx. 10m to the southwest. This deposit is
interpreted as part of landscaping works associated with the development of the
church in 1860 within the vacant riverside location, perhaps to create a raised, level
surface above the potential flood levels. A metal pole carrying a electrical lamp is
located on the inside of the boundary wall with the riverside pathway. The excavation
of the trial pit in this area revealed a warning hazard tape over an electrical supply
cable near the base of the topsoil layer. The excavation of this trial pit was, therefore,
abandoned at a depth of 25cm below existing ground surface due to the potential
presence of live electrical services. The completed section of this pit did reveal a
similar stratigraphy as that noted to the northeast, i.e. an approx. 20cm deep topsoil
layer, with modern inclusions, overlying stony layer of introduced infill material.

In summary, nothing of archaeological significance was uncovered during the site
investigations.
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5. Conclusions

The proposed development of the Slaney Bridge in Tullow represents a significant but
necessary intervention on the historic structure which has functioned successfully (by
all available accounts) for approximately 170 years. The provision of new pedestrian
facilities on the structure is being undertaken to widen the available space on the
crossing for road vehicles while providing a safe means of communication from
footpaths on Bridge Street to those on Abbey Street and Thomas Traynor Road to the
south.

The works to this nineteenth-century bridge will not involve any in-channel works and
the structure is not a recorded archaeological monument. The only area where ground
disturbance works will occur within the zone of archaeological notification associated
with the historic town will be within the grounds of the former Methodist church (now
Tullow Museum) where a revised arrangement of pedestrian steps is proposed to be
constructed (see Figure 7 above) to afford better access to the existing riverside walk
to the north of the bridge. The archaeological test pits excavated within this area
(Licence 17E0385) did not reveal any features, deposits or artefacts of archaeological
significance and a report on the site investigations has been submitted to the National
Monuments Service.

In commenting on the proposed scheme, the National Monuments Service (in a letter
dated 14 December 2017 to Carlow County Council) have requested the following
archaeological condition be adhered to:
The applicant shall engage the services of a suitably qualified, licenced
archaeologist to carry out the following under archaeological licence:

1. The archaeologist shall monitor, under licence, all works within the proposed
extent of the Part 8 application, with particular attention to works within the
Zone of Archaeological Potential. This shall also include groundworks
required for boundary walls, new lighting and any associated electric
ducting/pipelines.

2. A detailed method statement shall accompany the archaeological
Excavation licence application and shall detail all works that will impact
below current road levels, etc. The MS shall also contain a detail Find’s
Retrieval Strategy. 4-5 weeks shall be allowed for the application to be
process.

3. Excavation works (for archaeological monitoring) are to take place to the
uppermost archaeological horizons only, where they survive, and where
archaeological features/deposits are revealed, works shall stop pending
further advice from the NMS (DCHG). Please note that all
features/archaeological surfaces are to be hand-cleaned and clearly visible
for photographic purposes.

4. The applicant/developer shall facilitate the archaeologist in fulfilling all
aspects of this condition.

5. All replacement walling required where the roadside and riverside walls
are to be removed, shall be in keeping with current vernacular stone wall
and as per recommendations made by our colleague in the Architectural
Heritage Advisory Unit (AHAU).
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Appendix: Photographic Record

Plate 1 South-eastern downstream elevation of Slaney Bridge in Tullow from footpath on south-west

bank of river. Tullow Museum in former Methodist Church is visible beyond bridge to right of
photograph.

S g B N
Plate 2 South-eastern downstream elevation of bridge from footpath on north-east bank of Slaney
River. Riverside footpath in foreground was extended further into the river channel ¢.2000
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Plate 3 North-western upstream elevation of Slaney Bridge with former Bridge Hotel building visible
beyond bridge to right of photograph.

Plate 6 Road deck of Slaney Bridge in Tullow from south-west end looking towards Bridge Street and
beyond to the Market Square. Proposed works will see carriage ways widened by approximately
1.9metres following removal of existing footpaths and installation of concrete high containment kerbs
at the base of the parapet walls. No stone kerb stones or other fabric of built heritage significance
exists on the road deck so alterations here will have no negative impact on the structure.
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Plate 7: View towards area within former Methodist Church property to be impacted by proposed
realignment of existing steps

Plate 8: View of topsoil and underlying introduced stone fill in archaeological test pit excavated within
Methodist Church property
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